
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Asheline Appleton, Stefan Jungcurt, Ph.D., Marie-Annick Moreau, Olivia Pasini, 
Nicole Schabus, and Elsa Tsioumani. The Digital Editor is Francis Dejon. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of IISD Reporting 
Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International 
Development – DFID), the Government of the United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific 
Affairs), the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development 
(BMU), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission (DG-ENV) and the Italian Ministry for the Environment, Land and Sea. General Support 
for the Bulletin during 2008 is provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Australia, the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, 
Environment and Water Management, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, Swiss Federal 
Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental 
Strategies - IGES) and the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI). Funding for 
translation of the Bulletin into French has been provided by the International Organization of the Francophonie (IOF). Funding for the translation of the Bulletin into Spanish 
has been provided by the Ministry of Environment of Spain. The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or 
other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests 
to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11A, New York, NY 10022, USA. 
The ENB Team at COP 9 can be contacted by e-mail at <elsa@iisd.org>.

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/biodiv/cop9/

COP 9
#9

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 9 No. 450 Thursday, 29 May 2008

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

CBD COP 9 HIGHLIGHTS: 
WEDNESDAY, 28 MAY 2008

The CBD COP 9 High-Level Segment opened at the World 
Conference Center Bonn. An afternoon plenary at the Maritim 
Hotel heard statements from high-level representatives. Working 
Group I met in the afternoon and evening to consider conference 
room papers (CRPs) on protected areas (PAs), invasive alien 
species (IAS) and biodiversity and climate change. Contact and 
informal groups on access and benefit-sharing (ABS), Article 
8(j), financial resources and mechanism, marine and coastal 
biodiversity, forest biodiversity, agricultural biodiversity and 
biofuels, PAs, and the budget met throughout the day.

HIGH-LEVEL SEGMENT 
OPENING: COP 9 President Sigmar Gabriel, German 

Minister of the Environment, welcomed delegates to the High-
Level Segment, reminding them that protecting biodiversity is a 
Herculean task. 

German Chancellor Angela Merkel noted the linkages 
between poverty eradication and biodiversity conservation, 
and pledged EUR 500 million for protection of forests and 
ecosystems between 2009 and 2012, with an additional 500 
million every year thereafter. European Commission President 
José Manuel Barroso said agreeing to selection criteria for 
marine PAs is crucial to meet the 2012 target for a global 
system of such areas. Canadian Prime Minister Stephen Harper 
called the 2010 target today’s paramount environmental 
challenge. UNEP Executive Director Achim Steiner delivered 
a message on behalf of UN Secretary General Ban Ki-moon, 
pointing to the profound human and economic dimensions 
of biodiversity loss. UN General Assembly President Srgjan 
Kerim called for unprecedented efforts to counter biodiversity 
loss. CBD Executive Secretary Ahmed Djoghlaf presented the 
CBD awards. Participants were then updated on the status of 
negotiations.

PLENARY: COP 9 President Gabriel announced the 
formation of high-level groups on outstanding items, including: 
sustainable biofuel production and consumption; funding; ocean 
fertilization; GM trees; and biodiversity and climate change.

SWEDEN highlighted that 1% of its GDP is allocated to 
official development assistance (ODA) and, with INDONESIA, 
stressed the need for a balanced focus on all three CBD 
objectives. CUBA called on parties to meet their ODA 
commitments. BRAZIL underlined that CBD implementation 
depends on financial mobilization. KENYA noted that 
conservation efforts must take into account poverty and reliance 
on natural resources in developing countries. INDONESIA, 

COTE D’IVOIRE, UGANDA and the CENTRAL AFRICAN 
REPUBLIC called for a legally binding instrument to ensure 
benefit-sharing.

COLOMBIA highlighted its support for certification 
mechanisms for biofuels and, with SPAIN, for work on ABS 
and PAs. The GAMBIA underscored the importance of PAs 
in the face of projected climate change impacts and MALTA 
stressed the need for marine PAs. NIGERIA emphasized the 
need to increase biodiversity’s contribution to food production. 
MALAYSIA suggested considering the poverty eradication 
aspects of biofuel production. CHAD said biofuel production 
should not threaten food security or degrade ecosystems. 
CHINA outlined national efforts to keep biofuel production 
from competing with food production. SENEGAL noted the 
interdependence of the world food and energy crises. COSTA 
RICA announced its goal to be carbon-neutral by 2021.

CAMEROON and the CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC, 
with a coalition of NGOs, cautioned against GM trees. 
TUNISIA drew attention to the challenge of desertification and 
unsustainable water use. NAMIBIA illustrated the potential 
of indigenous systems to improve dryland agriculture. The 
MALDIVES underscored the vulnerability of island biodiversity 
to climate change impacts.

Drawing attention to its forthcoming G8 presidency, ITALY 
committed to advance the biodiversity cause on the G8 agenda. 
GUATEMALA called for greater emphasis on biodiversity 
conservation and sustainable use in the UNFCCC process. 
BHUTAN called for enhanced synergy between the Rio 
Conventions.

INDIA highlighted commitments to increase forest cover. 
TIMOR-LESTE presented the Coral Triangle Initiative on Coral 
Reefs, Fisheries and Food Security. BURKINA FASO described 
implementation activities, such as private sector involvement in 
wildlife management. 

President Gabriel said commitments expressed bode well for 
achieving progress in the high-level groups on Thursday.

WORKING GROUP I
PAs: Delegates agreed to “welcome” rather than “take 

note of” the Lifeweb Initiative. CANADA and the RUSSIAN 
FEDERATION, opposed by the UN PERMANENT FORUM 
ON INDIGENOUS ISSUES and HONDURAS, suggested 
deleting a reference to taking into account indigenous and local 
community governance systems in ensuring conservation and 
development activities in PAs. The text remains bracketed. 
Delegates debated and agreed on the process for the continued 
monitoring of work programme implementation and in-depth 
review. JAPAN, opposed by many, proposed deleting language 



Thursday, 29 May 2008   Vol. 9 No. 450  Page 2 
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

inviting the G8 to consider initiating a financial initiative for 
biodiversity conservation. The paragraph was bracketed. A 
Friends of the Chair group will address outstanding matters.

IAS: Delegates reviewed a CRP. Aiming to remove a 
footnote regarding Decision VI/23 (Alien species that threaten 
ecosystems, habitats or species), AUSTRALIA, supported by 
NEW ZEALAND, proposed text noting that when applying the 
guiding principles, parties should be consistent with their rights 
and obligations under relevant international agreements. The 
EU and NORWAY opposed, preferring to note that parties take 
into account other relevant international agreements to which 
they are party. Both proposals remain bracketed pending further 
consultations.

Delegates debated several proposals referring to the increasing 
impacts of IAS due to global trade, transport and travel, and 
likely exacerbation due to human-induced climate change, 
increased use of GMOs, and the use of alien species for biofuel 
production. NEW ZEALAND, supported by CANADA, 
suggested noting the potential risk, as a result of increased use, 
of GMOs and species used for biofuel production becoming IAS 
under certain conditions, where there are insufficient safeguards. 
The EU preferred to delete reference to “human-induced” 
climate change and to GMOs, since the latter are covered by 
the Cartagena Protocol. GRENADA suggested the need for 
additional efforts to assess these risks. The issue was deferred to 
an informal group. Discussions will continue on Thursday.

BIODIVERSITY AND CLIMATE CHANGE: Delegates 
considered a CRP, and several called for it to be streamlined. 
Regarding future in-depth reviews of the work programme, 
and advice on potential impacts of climate change, the EU and 
NORWAY preferred to maintain reference to climate change 
mitigation activities. Discussions continued into the night.

CONSULTATIVE GROUP ON ARTICLE 8(J)
Following lengthy discussions on the focus of the work 

programme on Article 8(j), debate centered on a compromise 
proposal. Delegates agreed to initiate work on task 15 
(repatriation of information) following deletion of a specific 
reference to proposed guidelines. They also decided to initiate 
work on tasks 7 (guidelines for benefit-sharing and prior 
informed consent), 10 (guidelines for prevention of unlawful 
appropriation of traditional knowledge) and 12 (guidelines 
to guarantee indigenous rights over traditional knowledge), 
to identify effective contribution to the ongoing work on sui 
generis systems, the code of ethical conduct and the international 
ABS regime. Delegates further agreed to call for submissions 
on “desirability and potential elements” of a strategy on 
conservation and sustainable use. On a proposed in-depth 
review of the work programme at COP 10, to place a greater 
focus on the connections between the three CBD objectives and 
“protection of traditional knowledge,” one delegation preferred 
referring to “respect, preservation and maintenance of traditional 
knowledge” and the issue was left pending. 

CONSULTATIVE GROUP ON ABS
 Delegates agreed that future meetings of the ABS Working 

Group be held, subject to the availability of funds, over seven 
consecutive days, unless otherwise determined by parties. 
SWEDEN, SPAIN, NAMIBIA and CANADA pledged 
contributions to fund working and expert group meetings. A 
small group will convene Thursday to begin considering the 
regime’s main components.

FRIENDS OF THE CHAIR ON MARINE AND COASTAL 
BIODIVERSITY

Delegates reviewed a Chair’s text. Discussions focused on 
how to reference Principles 2 (sovereignty of States), 7 (common 
but differentiated responsibilities) and 15 (precautionary 
approach) of the Rio Declaration, with delegates agreeing to 

include the first two in the preamble. Delegates debated whether 
to “take into account” or “also note” the UN Declaration on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, and agreed on the former. 
Delegates also agreed on the need for capacity building to 
implement provisions on environmental impact assessments and 
on a respective workshop. 

Afternoon and evening meetings focused on unresolved 
issues: the application of criteria, guidance and initial steps for 
marine PAs; further advancing scientific and advisory work on 
areas meeting the scientific criteria; and cooperation on pilot 
projects. Delegates agreed to delete a paragraph stating that the 
establishment of marine PAs beyond national jurisdiction should 
be undertaken with the consent of all parties concerned and by 
respecting their mutual rights.

FRIENDS OF THE CHAIR ON FOREST BIODIVERSITY
 Delegates considered a non-paper comprising a draft 

decision. On the impact of the production and consumption of 
biomass for energy, delegates debated reference to “commercial” 
or “industrial production and/or large-scale industrial 
production,” and agreed to “large-scale and/or industrial 
production.” Delegates discussed developing knowledge on 
forest ecosystem services, innovative tools or implementing 
market-based certification schemes “consistent with” or “taking 
into account” relevant international obligations. References 
remained bracketed. Several delegates opposed convening an 
ad hoc technical expert group on review of implementation of 
the work programme. Regarding GM trees, delegates considered 
three formulations referring to the precautionary approach, which 
remained bracketed. Language on suspending the release of 
GM trees until assessment of their potential impacts and further 
development of methods for conducting risk assessments also 
remains bracketed. A revised CRP will be prepared.

FRIENDS OF THE CHAIR ON AGRICULTURAL 
BIODIVERSITY 

 The group continued discussion of a CRP focusing on: the 
role of the Convention in addressing biofuels; the relevance of 
the precautionary approach; and the need to mention impacts of 
perverse incentives. One delegation suggested moving a heavily 
bracketed reference to voluntary guidelines, criteria, standards, 
certification schemes and other tools to a footnote, with delegates 
noting a potential trade-off between this text and deleting text 
referencing trade and market distortions.

BUDGET GROUP
The budget group continued deliberations on preliminary 

emerging cost implications. Conscious of the projected USD 
800,000 shortfall in the Convention’s core programme budget for 
2007/2008, delegates identified priorities, notably ABS meetings 
and a new ABS Secretariat post. Delegates also discussed areas 
for cost savings, such as holding liaison group meetings on the 
margins of other meetings.

IN THE CORRIDORS
 On Wednesday, many delegates could be seen experiencing 

varying degrees of confusion. In the morning, some delegates 
were observed wandering the hallways of the conference venue 
looking for their informal groups which had been relocated or 
postponed. One contact group Chair was witnessed searching 
for his “friends,” grumbling that they were probably tied up in 
more important informals. Others expressed concern regarding 
the “institutionalization” of informal groups such as the informal 
consultative group on ABS or the Friends of the Chair group on 
biofuels, which have been meeting almost continuously. In the 
evening, cheerful ABS negotiators set out to see what had been 
going on while “we have been locked away in our group.” One 
looked very puzzled when his query “Which working group is 
this?” was answered with “The high-level segment!”


